### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	)
Plaintiff-Appellee,	) ) )
v.	) S.CT. NO. 20-1568
BRENT HAUGE,	)
Defendant-Appellant.	)

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR PLYMOUTH COUNTY HONORABLE DANIEL P. VAKULSKAS

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender

ASHLEY STEWART Assistant Appellate Defender <u>astewart@spd.state.ia.us</u> <u>appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us</u>

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

### CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Statement of the Case	
Argument	
I. The district court erred when it denied Hauge's motion to suppress evidence resulting from an improper search and seizure under article i, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution	
Conclusion	
Request for Non-oral Argument 52	
Attorney's Cost Certificate	
Certificate of Compliance	

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u> : <u>Page</u> :
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)
Brendlin v. California, 552 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400 (2007)
Com. v. Gonsalves, 711 N.E.2d 108 (Mass. 1999) 34, 36-37
Florida v. Botstick, 501 U.S. 429, 111 S.Ct. 2382 (1991)
In re Pardee, 872 N.W.2d 384 (Iowa 2015)21
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019 (1938)46-47
Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 413-15, 117 S.Ct. 882 (1997)
Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 117 S.Ct. 417 (1996) 47
Penick v. State, 440 So.2d 547 (Miss. 1983)47
Racing Ass'n of Central Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2004)
Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973) 46
State v. Bacome, 154 A.3d 1253 (N.J. 2017)
State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013) 26-27, 51
State v. Becker, 458 N.W.2d 604 (Iowa 1990) 29-31, 35, 45

State v. Breur, 577 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa	a 1998)22
State v. Brown, 156 S.W.3d 722 (Ar	k. 2004)47
State v. Brown, 905 N.W.2d 846 (Io	wa 2018)28
State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa 2000)	22, 25, 27-28, 33-34
State v. Coleman, 890 N.W. 284 (Iov	wa 2017) 26, 28, 33
State v. Ferrier, 960 P.2d 927 (Wash	h. 1998)47
State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560 (I	owa 2010)27
State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1 (Iow	va 2015)26-27
State v. Jackson, 542 N.W.2d 842 (	Iowa 1996)22
State v. Jimenez, 353 P.3d 1227 (O	r. 2015)38-39
State v. Johnson, 346 A.2d 66 (N.J.	1978) 47
State v. Kim, 711 P.2d 1291 (Haw.	1985)35
State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371 (Iowa	a 2007) 22
State v. Lewis, 675 N.W.2d 516 (Iow	7a 2004)23
State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671	(Iowa 2007)23
State v. Mendez, 970 P.2d 722 (Was	sh. 1999)34, 36
State v. Miller, 370 P.3d 882 (Or. Ct	t. App. 2016)38-39
State v. Naujokes, 637 N.W.2d 101	(Iowa 2000)22

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)25-27, 33-34
State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d at 767 (Iowa 2011) 33, 46-51
State v. Pettitjohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)51
State v. Richards, 229 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa 1975)21
State v. Robinette, 685 N.E.2d 762 (1997)49
State v. Schable, 919 N.W.2d 766 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)24-25
State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474 (Iowa 2014) 26-27, 34
State v. Smith, 637 A.2d 158 (N.J. 1994)
State v. Smith, 683 N.W.2d 542 (Iowa 2004) 30-32
State v. Sprague, 824 A.2d 539 (Vt. 2003)35-36, 44
State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 132 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008) 22, 24
Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996)
Constitutional Provisions:
Iowa Const. art. I, § 8
U.S. Const. amend IV

### Other Authorities:

4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the
Fourth Amendment, § 9.6(a) (5th ed. Oct. 2017
Update)
Illya D. Lichtenberg and Alisa Smith, How Dangerous are
Routine Police-Citizen Traffic Stops? A Research Note, 29
Crim. Just. 419, 420 (2001)
Donald P. Racheter, The Iowa Constitution: Rights over
Mechanics, in The Constitutionalism of American States 479,
479 (George E. Connor & Christopher W. Hammons eds.,
2008)

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred when it denied Hauge's motion to suppress evidence resulting from an improper search and seizure under article i, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution?

### **Authorities**

State v. Richards, 229 N.W.2d 229, 232 (Iowa 1975)

In re Pardee, 872 N.W.2d 384, 390 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 132, 136 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Breur, 577 N.W.2d 41, 44 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Jackson, 542 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007)

U.S. Const., amend IV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 8

State v. Naujokes, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 282 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 n.2 (Iowa 2001)

State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671, 676 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Lewis, 675 N.W.2d 516, 522 (Iowa 2004)

Whren v. United States, 517 U.S.806, 809-810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 1772 (1996)

### 1). Preliminary Matter Hauge was seized

Florida v. Botstick, 501 U.S. 429, 437, 111 S.Ct. 2382, 2387 (1991)

Brendlin v. California, 552 U.S. 249, 257-258, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 2407 (2007)

State v. Schable, 919 N.W.2d 766 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

### 2). Searches and Seizures under the Iowa

#### **Constitution**

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 285 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 273 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 809-10 (Iowa 2013)

Donald P. Racheter, The Iowa Constitution: Rights over Mechanics, in The Constitutionalism of American States 479, 479 (George E. Connor & Christopher W. Hammons eds., 2008).

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W. 284, 286 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 482 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 10 (Iowa 2015)

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 345 (2009)

State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560, 567-568 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197, 206 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Brown, 905 N.W.2d 846, 847 (Iowa 2018)

# 2). History of passengers' removal from vehicles in the Iowa Supreme Court.

State v. Becker, 458 N.W.2d 604, 607-608 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Smith, 683 N.W.2d 542, 544 (Iowa 2004)

Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 413-15, 117 S.Ct. 882, 885-86 (1997)

# 3.) Hauge's improper removal from the vehicle under article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution.

Racing Ass'n of Central Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1, 4-6 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284 (2017)

State v. Bacome, 154 A.3d 1253 (N.J. 2017)

State v. Mendez, 970 P.2d 722 (Wash. 1999)

Com. v. Gonsalves, 711 N.E.2d 108 (Mass. 1999)

State v. Sprague, 824 A.2d 539 (Vt. 2003)

State v. Kim, 711 P.2d 1291 (Haw. 1985)

4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment, § 9.6(a) (5th ed. Oct. 2017 Update)

State v. Smith, 637 A.2d 158, 618 (N.J. 1994)

Illya D. Lichtenberg and Alisa Smith, *How Dangerous are Routine Police-Citizen Traffic Stops? A Research Note*, 29 Crim. Just. 419, 420 (2001)

State v. Miller, 370 P.3d 882, 888 n.5 (Or. Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Jimenez, 353 P.3d 1227, 1231 n.9 (Or. 2015)

### 3). Hauge's consent was not voluntary under the Iowa Constitution.

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 222-223 (1973)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d at 767, 777–82 (Iowa 2011)

Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019 (1938)

Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 117 S.Ct. 417 (1996)

State v. Brown, 156 S.W.3d 722, 731-32 (Ark. 2004)

Penick v. State, 440 So.2d 547, 551 (Miss. 1983)

State v. Johnson, 346 A.2d 66, 68 (N.J. 1978)

State v. Ferrier, 960 P.2d 927, 932-33 (Wash. 1998)

State v. Robinette, 685 N.E.2d 762, 771 (1997)

State v. Pettitjohn, 899 N.W.2d 1, 33 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 798 (Iowa 2013)

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve substantial questions of first impression or of enunciating or changing legal principles in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c) and (f).

Hauge requests that the <u>State v. Becker</u>, 458 N.W.2d 604, 607-608 (Iowa 1990) rule, providing passengers cannot automatically be removed from vehicles absent reasonable suspicion, should continue to endure under the Iowa Constitution though it has been overruled under the Fourth Amendment by <u>Maryland v. Wilson</u>, 519 U.S. 408, 413-15, 117 S.Ct. 882, 885-86 (1997).

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant, Brent Hauge, from his conviction following a bench trial for Possession of Methamphetamine, a controlled substance, second offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code 124.40(5).

### **COURSE OF PROCEEDING**

On July 3, 2019, the State charged Hauge with Possession of Methamphetamine, a Controlled Substance, Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code §124.401(5). (7/3/19 Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5). Hauge pled not guilty and waived his right to a speedy trial. (7/17/19 Written Plea of Not Guilty) (App. pp. 6-7).

On September 3, 2019, Hauge filed a Motion to Suppress. 09/03/19 Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 8-9). The motion argued, in part, that: (1) the traffic detention of Hauge was illegal on an impermissible extension of the grounds for the traffic stop and that Hauge should have been permitted to leave; (2) the pat-down of Hauge was based on a warrant for another passenger and did not justify a pat-down of Hauge; and (3) any purported consent was not voluntary. (9/3/19 Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 8-9).

The State filed a Resistance to Hauge's motion. The State argued that: (1) the officer requested Hauge step out of

the vehicle based on the warrant for the passenger; (2) the officer had Hauge step out of the vehicle for officer safety; (3) and (3) Hauge consented to the pat-down. (12/2/19 Resistance to Motion) (App. pp. 10-12).

On March 11, 2020, the district court issued a written ruling denying Hauge motion to suppress, in part. The court found that: (1) Deputy Peterson did not have reason to believe that Hauge had a weapon and therefore was not allowed to complete a pat-down; (2) however, Hauge gave consent for Peterson to perform the pat-down show in Exhibit 102; (3) the scope of the pat-down was not exceeded when Peterson went into Hauge's pocket based on the "plain feel" exception to the warrant requirement; (4) because Hauge was not provided his Miranda rights after being detained any statements made by Hauge pertaining to the identification of the object found in his pocket was barred. (Ex. 102; 3/11/20 Order) (App. pp. 13-22).

A bench trial was y held on September 1, 2020. At the conclusion of the bench trial, the district court found Hauge guilty of Possession of Methamphetamine, Second Offense. (11/25/2020 Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 23-26).

Hauge filed a notice of appeal on December 1 2020. (12/1/20 Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 27-29).

#### **FACTS**

### **Suppression Hearing**

During the Suppression hearing, Officers Scherle and Peterson testified to the following:

On June 14, 2019 at approximately at 10:30 am, Officer Scherle was traveling in Merrill, Iowa on Highway 75 and Main Street and came into contact with a vehicle. (Supp. Tr. p. 6, L11-14; p. 6, L13-22). Scherle noticed all occupants of the vehicle staring at him as they passed him while he parked Larry's Automotive. (Supp. Tr. p. 6, L23-p.7, L2). He noticed that specifically that the back, female passenger continued to look at him. (Supp. Tr. p. 7, L14-16). Scherle began to

follow the vehicle northbound and noticed the car overtaking another vehicle and clocked the vehicle speeding. (Supp. Tr. 8, L1-6). He initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle and the driver stopped. (Supp. Tr. p. 8, L9-13).

At the same time that Scherle was traveling northbound, Deputy Peterson was also traveling north on Highway 75. (Supp. Tr. p. 21, L19-21). Peterson assisted Scherle with the traffic stop and approached the passenger side. (Supp. Tr. p. 22, L6-10). Peterson shined his flashlight into the vehicle in order to send all the occupants of the vehicle and noticed three people including a woman in the backseat. (Supp. Tr. p. 22, 111-16). Peterson also noticed a man in the front seat, later identified as Hauge. Peterson noticed that the front seat passenger looking straightforward or at the floor. Peterson stated that Hauge did not attempt to make any eye contact with him. Peterson testified that it struck him as odd. (Supp. Tr. p. 25, L1-7). Peterson then he noticed the passenger reach down to the passenger door pocket. (Supp.

Tr. p. 27, L5-7). Peterson saw Hauge grab a lottery ticket from the door and then Hauge used the officer's flashlight to look at the lottery ticket "as though he couldn't see it and turned to utilize my light." (Supp. Tr. p. 28, L21-25). Hauge then focused his attention staring straight down at the floor again and not making eye contact. (Supp. Tr. p. 31, L18-20). Officer Peterson did not notice any large objects on Hauge's person nor did he see a weapon, while Hauge was in the vehicle. (Supp. Tr. p. 52, L14-19).

Officer Scherle then confirmed that the back seat female passenger had an active mittimus warrant for her arrest.

(Supp. Tr. p. 31, L21-p.32, L4). The mittimus warrant, for failure to serve sentence, which was based on the underlying charge of domestic abuse with a deadly weapon. (Supp. Tr. p. 33, L3-4; p. 49, L18-20). The decision was made to request all occupants exit the vehicle and first the driver was asked to step out and then the front seat passenger. (Supp. Tr. p. 34, L13-19). Peterson testified that Hauge was asked to exit the

vehicle because of the nature of the warrant for the backseat passenger. Peterson also testified that Hauge was asked to leave the vehicle because defendant was reaching multiple times out of "my line of sight, the deflection not wanting to make eye contact." (Supp. Tr. p. 43, L21-p. 35, L2).

After Hauge stepped out of the vehicle, Peterson asked if Hauge had any guns and Hauge said he did not. (Supp. Tr. p. 40, L13-23). Officer Peterson told Hauge that he was not under arrest but was detained. (Supp. Tr. p. 41, L13-17). Officer Peterson then patted Hauge down and while patting down, Officer Peterson felt an object in the front right pocket. Peterson recognized it as a pipe. (Supp. Tr. 40, L24-p. 41, L6). The officer then walked Hauge to the police car, and then removed the pipe from Hauge's pocket. (Supp. Tr. p. 49, L4-7).

#### Bench Trial Evidence

Officer Peterson also testified during Hauge's bench trial though Officer Scherle did not. Officer Peterson trial

testimony was substantial identical to his testimony from the suppression hearing. During his trial testimony, Peterson did clarify that before he removed the pipe from Hauge's pocket, he handcuffed Hauge. (Trial p. 16, L20-p. 17, L6). Peterson also confirmed that he found a glass pipe and a small plastic bag of a crystal-like substance believed to be methamphetamine. (Trial p. 17, L10-11).

Also, during the trial Hauge testified. Hauge stated during his interaction with Peterson he asked repeatedly after Peterson took his identification if he was detained and Peterson confirmed that he was not free to leave. (Trial p. 33, L5-17). Hauge also testified that when Peterson asked if he could pat-down Hauge, he felt like he could not say no. (Trial p. 35, L18-22).

Other relevant facts will be discussed below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED HAUGE'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE RESULTING FROM AN IMPROPER SEARCH AND SEIZURE UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 8 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION.
- **A.** Preservation of Error: When a pre-trial motion to suppress is overruled by the trial court, no further objection at trial is necessary to preserve error. State v. Richards, 229 N.W.2d 229, 232 (Iowa 1975). In this case, the district court partially overruled Hauge's pretrial Motion to Suppress. (9/3/19 Motion Suppress; 12/2/19 Brief in Support State's Resistance to Defendant's Motion; 3/11/2020 Order) (App. pp. 8-22). Error was therefore preserved.
- **B.** <u>Standard of Review</u>: The Court reviews the district court's denial of a motion to suppress based on deprivation of a constitutional right to de novo. <u>In re Pardee</u>, 872 N.W.2d 384, 390 (Iowa 2015). "In our review, we must make "an independent evaluation of a totality of circumstances as shown by the entire record." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 867 N.W.2d 132, 136 (Iowa 2015)). The Court also considers

"both the evidence presented during the suppression hearing and that introduced at trial. State v. Breur, 577 N.W.2d 41, 44 (Iowa 1998) (citing State v. Jackson, 542 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1996)). The Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings "due to its opportunity to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses," but it is not bound by its findings. State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007).

C. <u>Discussion</u>: The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution<sup>1</sup> and article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution protects individuals, homes, papers, and effects from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const., amend IV; Iowa Const. art. I, § 8; <u>State v. Naujokes</u>, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2000).

Searches or seizures conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable, subject only to certain limited exceptions. State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 282 (Iowa 2000)

<sup>1</sup> The Fourth Amendment applies to the states through incorporation by the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008).

(abrogated on unrelated grounds by State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 n.2 (Iowa 2001)). It is the State's burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a warrantless search or seizure falls into one of the exceptions. State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671, 676 (Iowa 2007). The State has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a recognized exception to the warrant requirement applies. State v. Lewis, 675 N.W.2d 516, 522 (Iowa 2004).

In the present case, Hauge acknowledges that law enforcement was authorized to stop the vehicle due to a traffic violation. See Whren v. United States, 517 U.S.806, 809-810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 1772 (1996). However, Hauge contends that law enforcement did not have the authority to order him out of the vehicle. Further, Hauge argues that he did not provide consent to the officer to reach into his pocket.

### 1). Preliminary Matter Hauge was seized

Under both the Fourth Amendment and the article I, section 8 ordering an individual out of the vehicle is a seizure.

A seizure occurs if "the police conduct would have communicated to a reasonable person that he was not at liberty to ignore the police presence and go about his business." Florida v. Botstick, 501 U.S. 429, 437, 111 S.Ct. 2382, 2387 (1991) (quotation marks and citation omitted).

See State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d at 843 (citations omitted).

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