IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20-1568

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

BRENT ALAN HAUGE, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR PLYMOUTH COUNTY THE HONORABLE DANIEL P. VAKULSKAS, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) Thomas.Bakke@ag.iowa.gov

DARIN J. RAYMOND Plymouth County Attorney

AMY K. OETKEN Assistant Plymouth County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Hauge has Failed to Show the District Court Erred by Denying His Motion to Suppress.

Preservation of Error

The State partially contests error preservation. Although Hauge moved to suppress, the grounds raised below did not include a

challenge to the lawfulness of the officer's order for Hauge to exit the vehicle which is one of the primary issues raised in his appeal. See Mot. Supp.; App. 8–9. Hauge's motion to suppress included challenges to Hague's detention, the pat-down search of his person, and his pre-Miranda statements. See Mot. Supp.; App. 8-9. Even at the hearing on the motion to suppress, Hauge's counsel explained they were primarily urging suppression of the pat-down search and the defendant's statements. See Supp. Tr. 74:4-:19. And the court's ruling on the motion to suppress only addressed two issues: (1) the pat-down search and (2) the pre-Miranda statements of the defendant. See Supp. Ruling; App. 13-22. Thus, error is not preserved for the challenge that the officer's order for Hauge to exit the vehicle was unlawful. That claim cannot be considered on appeal. Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.").

And even if this Court were to liberally construe Hauge's motion to suppress, the constitutional arguments raised on appeal were still not preserved. On appeal, Hauge argues this Court should decline to follow the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408 (1997), and should apply a different standard for the lawfulness of exit orders under the Iowa Constitution. See Appellant's Br. pp.24–45. He additionally argues this Court should adopt a per se requirement that officers advise an individual of their right to decline a consent search to establish consent under the Iowa Constitution. See Appellant's Br. pp.45-51. But neither argument for a novel approach under the Iowa Constitution was raised or ruled upon below. See Mot. Supp.; Supp. Ruling; App. 8–9, 13–22. Although Hauge's motion to suppress referred to the Iowa Constitution, a vague passing reference is not sufficient to preserve error for the nuanced arguments made on appeal. The Iowa Court of Appeals addressed a nearly identical issue in a recent case also urging an independent approach under the Iowa Constitution for exit orders, finding a vague reference to the Iowa Constitution—and in that case the issue was even addressed somewhat at the suppression hearing unlike this case where it was not—inadequate to preserve error for the argument made on appeal:

In Williams's appellate brief, many pages are dedicated to a comprehensive and thoughtful analysis of other states' treatment of *Wilson*. But other than a minimal reference to

article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution in the motion to suppress and his attempt at the suppression hearing to distinguish these facts from Wilson, Williams made no argument and the court did not rule on the question of any departure from federal precedent on this constitutional issue. As a general rule, "[i]ssues not raised before the district court, including constitutional issues, cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Because this issue was not preserved for appeal, we apply Wilson case law as written and decline to reach the merits of Williams's claim the Iowa requires Constitution different a interpretation.

State v. Williams, No. 19-1857, 2020 WL 7385260, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2020) (footnote omitted) (quoting State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)). Hauge's arguments urging a departure from the federal framework for both exit orders and consent pat-down searches were not preserved and should not be addressed on appeal. Because error was not preserved, only the existing framework should be applied in considering Hauge's claims.

Standard of Review

The Court reviews de novo when a defendant alleges a constitutional error occurred. *State v. Tague*, 676 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Iowa 2004) (citing *State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 2001)). "The court makes an 'independent evaluation of the totality

of circumstances as shown by the entire record." Id. (quoting State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)). The court grants "considerable deference to the trial court's findings regarding the credibility of witnesses, but [is] not bound by them." Id. (citing Turner, 630 N.W.2d at 606; State v. Liggins, 524 N.W.2d 181, 186 (Iowa 1994)). "In determining whether the court erred in overruling the motion to suppress [our appellate courts] may consider not only the evidence adduced in the motion to suppress but the later trial testimony." State v. Donnell, 239 N.W.2d 575, 577–78 (Iowa 1976) (citing United States v. Upthegrove, 504 F.2d 682, 684 n.4 (6th Cir. 1974)). An appellate court may affirm a district court's ruling on any ground urged below, whether or not it formed the basis for the court's original ruling. See DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 62–63 (Iowa 2002).

Merits

On appeal, Hague argues the court should have suppressed the evidence obtained because, in his view, the officer unlawfully ordered him to exit the vehicle in which he was a passenger and by conducting an unlawful pat-down search. *See* Appellant's Br. pp.24–51. The State disagrees.

A. The officer's exit order was lawful.

Hauge argues the officer's exit order was unlawful because he was a passenger in the stopped vehicle. He invites the Court to adopt a reasonable suspicion standard under article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution, as several states have adopted more stringent standards under their state constitutions, before a police officer may lawfully order a passenger to exit a vehicle stopped for traffic violations. Appellant's Br. pp.24–45. Specifically, he urges in light of this Court's recent expansions of protections from warrantless searches and seizures under the Iowa Constitution it should decline to follow Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408 (1997), and return to the earlier standard applied in *State v. Becker*, 458 N.W.2d 604 (Iowa 1990) (some articulable suspicion of wrongdoing), abrogated on other grounds by Knowles v. Iowa, 525 U.S. 113, 117–18 (1998). Appellant's Br. pp.24-45.

The State disagrees that the adoption of a one-size-fits-all standard is warranted in this case or moving forward. *Cf. State v*. *Coleman,* 890 N.W.2d 284, 300–01 (Iowa 2017) ("There is no categorical approach to pat-down searches," rather "[t]he validity of a pat-down search . . . depends upon the facts of each case."). In any

event, even applying the long-abandoned *Becker* reasonable suspicion standard as Hauge proposes, the officer's exit order was lawful.

1. This Court should decline Hauge's invitation to return to the standard adopted in State v. Becker.

In *Pennsylvania v. Mimms* the United States Supreme Court noted that "[t]he touchstone of our analysis under the Fourth Amendment is always 'the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular governmental invasion of a citizen's personal security.' " *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 108–09 (1977) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 (1968)). In *Terry v. Ohio* the Court had recognized "it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties." *Id.* at 110 (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 23). Thus, the Court found the officer's exit order for a driver following a traffic violation stop reasonable along with the pat-down that followed based on observing a large bulge under the driver's jacket. *Id.* at 109–12.

Twenty years later, the Supreme Court extended the *Mimms* rule to passengers in vehicles stopped for traffic violations, noting "the same weighty interest in officer safety is present regardless of whether the occupant of the stopped car is a driver or passenger."

Wilson, 519 U.S. at 413–15. The Court found the "additional intrusion on the passenger minimal" upholding the officer's exit order for passengers "pending completion of the stop." *Id.* at 414–15.

Prior to the *Wilson* opinion, the Iowa Supreme Court had taken a different approach for passenger exit orders. In *State v. Becker*, decided after *Mimms* but before *Wilson*, the Iowa Supreme Court held that immediately ordering a passenger from a vehicle following a traffic stop was unjustified "unless some articulable suspicion exists concerning a violation of law by that person, or unless further interference with the passenger is required to facilitate a lawful arrest of another person or lawful search of the vehicle." *Becker*, 458 N.W.2d at 607. The Court declined to extend the *Mimms* rule concerning drivers to passengers. *Id.* at 607–08.

Three years later in *State v. Riley*, the Iowa Supreme Court found it permissible for an officer to talk to a passenger in a stopped vehicle and ask for identification. *Riley*, 501 N.W.2d 487, 488–89 (Iowa 1993). And furtive movements under the front seat by the passenger upon the officer's approach combined with his failure to provide identification reasonably supported the officer's exit order and his check under the passenger's seat for weapons. *Id.* at 489–90.

In *State v. Smith*, the Iowa Supreme Court noted that in *Wilson* the Supreme Court had "overruled *Becker* sub silentio as far as its reliance on the Fourth Amendment," and reaffirmed *Riley* in that officers may lawfully talk to a passenger in a stopped vehicle and request identification information. *Smith*, 683 N.W.2d 542, 545 (Iowa 2004); *see also State v. Finch*, No. 02-1148, 2003 WL 22828750, *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 26, 2003) ("[B]ased on the holding in *Wilson*, we conclude Officer Schneider could order Finch out of the vehicle pending completion of the stop, regardless of whether he had any suspicion Finch was involved in criminal activity at that time, and in doing so did not violate Finch's rights under the Fourth Amendment.").

In arguing this Court should turn back to the *Becker* approach under the Iowa Constitution, Hauge points to several states that have declined to follow *Mimms* and/or *Wilson* under their respective state constitutions. *See* Appellant's Br. pp.34–35. The states Hauge identifies include Hawaii, New Jersey, Washington,² Massachusetts,

_

² The State points out that the text of the analogous provision in the Washington Constitution differs in that it "contains an express right to privacy." *State v. Storm*, 898 N.W.2d 140, 153 (Iowa 2017) (rejecting calls to adopt Washington's approach under Iowa

and Vermont. However, depending on how the question is framed, numerous jurisdictions would still allow an officer discretion to ask a passenger to either get out of or remain with a stopped vehicle.³ See, e.g., State v. Robbins, 171 A.3d 1245, 1250-51 (N.H. 2017); State v. Donaldson, 380 S.W.3d 86, 91-96 & n.10 (Tenn. 2012) (analyzing Mimms, adopting its view of balancing of interests, and explaining that Tennessee Constitution sometimes "offers more protection than the corresponding provisions of the Fourth Amendment"—but stating that "[i]n this instance, we see no reason to construe our constitution in a manner different from the federal constitution"); State v. Ulrey, 208 P.3d 317, 322 (Kan. 2009); Owens v. Commonwealth, 291 S.W.3d 704, 708-09 & n.19 (Ky. 2009); State v. Askerooth, 681 N.W.2d 353, 367 (Minn. 2004) (analyzing traffic stop under Article I, Section 10 of the Minnesota Constitution, and noting that "[i]t is correct that a police officer may order a driver out of a lawfully stopped vehicle without an articulated reason"); State v. Sparr, 688

-

Constitution because "[t]he Iowa Constitution lacks a separate privacy provision").

³ See also George L. Blum, Construction and Application by State Courts of Federal and State Constitutional Standards Governing Police Orders to Passengers in Car Lawfully Pulled Over for Traffic Stop, 92 A.L.R.6th 171 (orig. pub'd 2014) (compiling cases).

N.W.2d 913, 921–22 (Neb. 2004); State v. O'Neill, 62 P.3d 489, 499 (Wash. 2003) (assessing seizure under Article I, Section 7 of Washington Constitution and stating that "[o]nce a driver has been validly stopped, a police officer may order him or her to get out of the vehicle" in every case because "[s]uch an intrusion is de minimis"); People v. Rutherford, 802 N.E.2d 340, 349 (Ill. 2003); State v. Robinette, 685 N.E.2d 762, 767 (Ohio 1997) (reanalyzing facts under Section 14, Article I of the Ohio Constitution on remand, but still holding police officer's "instruction for Robinette to exit the vehicle was also justified because it was a traffic stop"); State v. Smith, 637 A.2d 158, 162–64 (N.J. 1994) (determining that *Mimms* rationale "satisfies the New Jersey Constitution as well"); State v. Dukes, 547 A.2d 10, 22–23 (Conn. 1988) (noting, under Article I, Section 7 of the Connecticut Constitution, an officer conducting a traffic stop may "ask that an occupant exit the vehicle; any intrusion upon an occupant's personal liberty in directing that action is de minimis because, on balance, it serves to protect the officer").

This Court should decline Hauge's invitation to adopt a brightline rule under article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution to require an officer to have a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity by an automobile passenger, or that the exit order is otherwise necessary to effect an arrest or search, to support a vehicle exit order. Such a rule is not feasible in practice when split-second decisions as to present danger must be made and, in any regard, is unwarranted because existing standards have not been applied as per se rules without regard to the circumstances. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d at 301 (noting validity of a pat-down search is a key to ensuring officer safety and "depends upon the facts of each case"); Commonwealth v. Elysee, 934 N.E.2d 837, 840–41 (Mass. 2010) (quoting Commonwealth v. Stampley, 771 N.E.2d 784, 787 (Mass. 2002)) (noting officers "need not point to specific facts that the occupants are armed and dangerous"); Smith, 637 A.2d at 168 (noting "sometimes in a matter of seconds, an officer must determine whether a protective pat-down is necessary to secure his or her safety") (citations omitted); Riley, 501 N.W.2d at 490 (recognizing dangers in roadside encounters).

And even with the *Wilson* rule, protections remain in place for passengers' constitutional rights. In *Arizona v. Johnson*, for example, the Court maintained that the *Terry* reasonable suspicion standard must be satisfied to support a pat-down. *Johnson*, 555 U.S. 323, 330–32 (2009). And the stop itself must be lawful before an exit

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